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Click to Start

We strive to maintain our excellence in the local market 
by means of providing the finest architecture, and best 
residential, commercial and hotel buildings in tune with 
Qatar National Vision 2030 entrenching the role of the 
Economy. We also seek to entrench our position among 
the three top real estate development companies in the 
region.

To build on our earnings and upgrade the level of 
architecture in residential and commercial and hotel 
buildings to give an aesthetic dimension to the state of 
state Qatar, and contribute to economic development 
through the provision of real estate units of high quality 
with acceptable costs.

Consolidate our position in the forefront of real estate 
development companies in the region, advancing the 
national development trough participation in the provision 
of different forms of real estate, which simulates the 
national economic renaissance.

Vision
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Click to Start

Mission

Provide the best units and real estate services in the local market matching the 
highest international standards within the most competitive prices. As well 
as moving forward in contributing in the provision of housing for the middle-
income. To ensure curbing inflation and the stability of living costs without 
compromising our constants that is based on

•	 Build	residential,	commercial	and	hotel	units	built	based	on	quality	as	a	key	
and only standard,

•	 Building	an	interactive	relationship	based	on	mutual	trust	with	customers,

•	 Contribute	to	further	advancement	of	architecture	in	the	State	of	Qatar.

•	 Adopt	an	architecture	model	compatible	with	environment-friendly	construction	
patterns,

•	 Taking	into	account	modern	construction	styles	that	does	not	conflict	with	the	
identity of architecture in Qatar,

•	 Building	a	long-term	relationship	with	our	partners	in	development,	

•	 Ensuring	the	shareholders	rights	and	maximizing	their	wealth	,(stakes)	in	the	
company.

•	 Strengthen	the	capabilities	of	our	staff	by	way	of	enrolling	them	in	specialized	
courses.

•	 Entrenching	ties	with	stakeholders;	and	keep	them	informed	about	our	latest	
news through the media.

•	 Contribute	in	interpreting	Qatar	National	Vision	2030	and	strengthen	our	role	
in the society and development.

•	 Actively	 participate	 in	 sponsoring	 conferences,	 events	 and	 tournaments	
hosted	by	the	State	of	Qatar	(Ezdan	agreed	with	the	FIFA	and	Qatar	Bid	2022,	
to provide 50 thousand units to be provided to host Qatar›s visitors in 2022.

•	 Explore	new	investment	opportunities	that	serve	shareholders.
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Letter from our Chairman

Dear Gentlemen,

Last year marked an important event in the history 
of	your	company›s	long	history;	Ezdan	Real	Estate	
celebrated in October of 2010 its golden jubilee. The 
last	50	years	witnessed	Ezdan	growing	from	a	new	
born company to a group of companies sharing the 
same	investment	objectives.	After	fifty	years	Ezdan	
stands tall and gives strongly within what is known 
as	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company.

Ezdan	continued	what	 it	has	been	doing	since	 its	
inception, to maintain strong presence in the local 
arena as a key player in the process of development 
and the economic and urban and cultural 
advancement in the State of Qatar, during the past 
fifty years, your company confronted with resolution 
numerous challenges posed by the change in the 
global economical cycle, and its local and global 
repercussions.	Ezdan	is	determined	to	press	ahead	
in playing a key role in development, and maintain 
to be one of Qatar’s landmarks. That is why, the 
issue of developing the Qatari element is one of the 
company’s core priorities. 

Allah almighty encourages us to work, and tells us 
he	will	judge	our	work,	we	in	Ezdan	are	dedicated	
to serve this good country and its people and the 
expatriates living in it, that is why continue to carry 
out real estate projects in various areas of Qatar, 
without focusing only on Doha. Our strategy is to 
expand outside Doha, to other areas and ease 
congestions.
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our commitment to religious and national constants Led us to commit to 
the course of development which is based on the idea of moving forward to 
raise and develop our human and material potential, and the development 
of our society and contribution to its prosperity, entrenching our position 
among the key real estate and construction development companies in 
the Arab world and the region.

Today we look forward to the future with optimism and hope, putting behind 
us another year of economic challenges afflicting the whole world, putting 
major and key corporations that had its mark in its society’s economies, 
out of business, and despite all this, your company press ahead with the 
blessings of Allah, and the directions of our wise leadership in achieving 
more new accomplishments, based on our strong economy, Qatar 
managed to immune it against any dangers, and going the distance in the 
path of development and modern legislations, and wise governance.

Qatar bid fare well to 2010, with accomplishing a great achievement, 
overwhelming us with feelings of pride and joy, and that is Qatar winning 
the	2022	bid.	 In	 this	context,	your	company	signed	a	contract	with	 the	
FIFA	and	Qatar	Bid	2022	to	provide	50	thousand	new	flats	to	house	and	
accommodate visitors to  Qatar attending world cup 2022, to be provided 
for the occasion, this leads to boosting the private sector’s role in the 
economy	of	Qatar.	 In	addition,	holding	Ezdan	as	a	 strategic	partners	 in	
supporting Qatar bid 2022, is clear proof we have a vision, and maintain 
the tools to execute it, and this is a blessing from Allah

We have many hopes and aspirations to achieve more tasks boosting 
out position in relation to providing residential units allocated for middle 
class customers, we are close to achieve what we promised last year, 
with regards to commercial shopping centers projects, one of which will 
open this year 2011, leading to more diversification of our resources of 

income and enhance our shareholders rights, in light of Qatar’s vision 
2030, offering many wise scenarios for diversifying sources of income, 
and work on creating more investment new windows, that guarantees 
balance of revenue considering the effects of economic different cycles.   

Dear Shareholders, your company witnessed last year very important 
developments, it continued with it local projects that aims to provide more 
real estate options the meets the needs of the growing needs of the Qatari 
market, it also used its solid financial capacity to fund its residential and 
commercial projects. This went along with entering into local partnerships, 
and coincided with entering into local partnerships to guarantee all parties 
benefit from its extensive expertise that adds to the value of the quality of 
the projects.

Dear Shareholders, we pledge to continue to develop your company’s 
potential and uplift its competitive rank, we also pledge to contribute more 
in boosting the wheel of national economic development.   

In	the	end,	it	is	my	great	pleasure	to	present	my	gratitude	and	thanks	to	the	
Emir H.H. Sheikh Hamad bin Khalifa Al Thani, and to his H.H. Heir Apparent 
Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad Al Thani for taking into their care the progress 
and advancement of Qatar,  We also give our gratitude to H.E. Sheikh 
Jasim bin Jabir Al Thani, the Prime Minister and the minister of foreign 
affairs, and the government for their support to the Qatari companies, and 
also	to	all	the	employees	of	Ezdan	for	their	efforts	in	the	advancement	and	
progress of the company, we also thank the share holder for their trust and 
we promise them more with Allah’s blessings.  

May the peace, mercy, and blessings of Allah be upon you?

Thani Bin Abdulla Al Thani
Chairman
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Letter from our
Deputy Chairman 

Dear Shareholders

Ezdan	 Real	 Estate	 Company	 continues	 its	 steady	
steps forward, by achieving more real estate projects 
that supports the construction boom in the State of 
Qatar, and  strengthen of its economy, which is re-
ferred to as one of the fastest growing economies at 
the global level, Bearing in mind the aspirations and 
hopes	of	the	shareholders,	so	Ezdan	will	remain	to	
be big in the successive achievements.

Last year marked a series of developments in the 
company›s	 business;	 the	most	 prominent	 is	 com-
pleting	a	merger	with	 International	Housing	Group	
in early 2010. The merger attained the approval 
of the “Ministry of Business and Trade” and “Qatar 
Financial	Markets	Authority”	on	January	10,	2010	
after fulfilling the terms required for completing the 
merger. The merger responds to the facts and deci-
sions of the Extraordinary General Assembly of both 
companies,	increasing	Ezdan›s	capital	to	QAR	26.5	
billion. The merger uplifts the company›s perform-
ance and help executing more projects serving the 
urban renaissance in Qatar.
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In	 2010,	 the	 company	 began	 to	 implement	 a	 strategic	 plan	 to	 develop	
the group›s properties in Qatar by the group›s development department 
responsible for developing the current real estates.  

We signed a strategic partnership agreement in 2010 with Qatar General 
Insurance	&	Reinsurance	Company	and	Al-Sari	Trading	to	develop	a	real	
estate	project	named	Asia	Towers	worth	QAR	2.5	billion.	

Asia Towers Project, the first and the biggest real estate development 
project announced in 2010. The project is expected to give new vitality 
in the country›s real estate sector, and to give a boost to the national 
economy.

The repercussions of the global financial crunch affected the real sector in 
the whole region. However, in Qatar we were least affected by the crushing 
crisis.	Ezdan	was	one	of	the	few	companies	that	continued	to	launch	new	
projects even at the peak of the crisis. Your company managed to make 
use of the opportunities, and continue to build and work bringing benefit 
to the national economy and the urban renaissance and serve the best 
interests of the shareholders. 

In	2010,	your	company	managed	 to	 launch	Ezdan	villages	4,	5,	6	&	7.	
Fully	integrated	and	furnished	residential	compounds	providing	an	elegant	
residential environment. The company continues to work on completing 
works in the mega shopping commercial centers projects in Al Gharafa 
and Al Wakra. Work is expected to be completed on schedule. 

Ezdan	did	not	hesitate	for	a	day	to	carry	out	its	duty	towards	its	society,	
because we believe in our responsibility towards our society as a national 
company. Under the frame work of the company›s social responsibility, 
Ezdan	sponsored	the	first	football	team	of	Al	Gharafah	sports	club	during	
2009-2010. This step reflected the company national spirit for pressing 
development in line with the boom in every aspect of life in the country. 

Ezdan	supports	Qatar	2022	Bid,	 it	 signed	a	contract	with	 the	FIFA	and	
Qatar Bid-2022 to build 50 thousand residential units to serve this world 
event. We are ready to fulfill our commitment for the success of this huge 
sporting event, to come out in a picture worthy of Qatar›s reputation that 
has become the capital of sport and athletes. 

Dear Shareholders

We hope to enter the new year, and achieve success, and consolidate our 
leading position in the domestic market, something we promise to hold on 
to, inspired by your continuous support and your confidence in the com-
pany and its management.

God bless,

Abdulla bin Thani bin Abdulla Al Thani

Board of Directors Deputy Chairman
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Letter from our MD & CEO 
Dear Shareholders
Ezdan	 Real	 Estate	 Company	 completed	 a	 series	 of	
achievements in 2010 adding to its success records. 
Ezdan	projects	achieved	a	quantum	leap,	particularly	
those directed towards the middle class. The company 
took to building fully integrated residential compounds 
to satisfy the local demand for residential units, and in 
the same time, allow middle class to live in an upscale 
environment that contains various services and vital 
facilities and entertainment at affordable prices.
In	 this	 context,	 the	 company	 built	 Ezdan	 villages	
projects	 in	Al-	Wakra	and	Al-Wukair.	Ezdan	Village	4	
was	 opened	 in	April	 2010	 in	Al	Wakra,	 while	 Ezdan	
villages	 5	 &	 6	 were	 opened	 in	 July	 accommodating	
3	 thousand	 tenants.	 Ezdan	Village	 7	 was	 opened	 in	
December of 2010. We offered very competitive prices 
and unprecedented promotion called «you pay for a 
year,	we	will	pay	for	6	months»,	this	campaign	helped	
increase	 occupancy	 rates.	 Ezdan	 Village	 7,	 which	
is	 the	 latest	 among	 Ezdan›s	 real	 estate	 projects.	 It	
completes a series of residential villages furnished and 
equipped with the latest amenities, and includes villas 
and	 apartments	 of	 different	 sizes.	 In	 addition,	 these	
villages contain all vital facilities. 
 
In	2010,	we	 launched	Ezdan	18	project	 in	Musherib	
area.	 It	 includes	 360	 housing	 units	 for	 rent,	 fully	
furnished with the finest furniture and electrical 
appliances.	In	mid-2010	we	launched	Ezdan	Building	
19, also in Musherib area.
It	 is	 expected	 that	 these	 projects	 will	 contribute	 in	
promoting and raising the value of the company›s 
revenues from rentals in 2011.
Dear Shareholders 
In	 In	 relation	 to	 developing	 work	 in	 the	 company›s	
management and its different departments, the 
company	 implemented	 in	 2010	 Oracle	 ERP	 to	
enhance the efficiency of managing of the company›s 
operations, and up lift the corporate performance and 
achieves smooth running and accuracy. 

Ezdan	participated	in	Cityscape	–	Singapore	(exhibition	
&	 conference)	 in	 May	 2010.	 We	 displayed	 the	

company›s latest real estate and investment projects 
including	Asia	towers	project,	Ezdan	Mall	1	&	2,	along	
with	Ezdan	 International	School	 and	 the	projects	 the	
company is currently executing in addition to future 
projects. 

Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	participated	in	last	year	in	
Qatar›s	Fifth	International	Exhibition	for	Real	Estate	and	
Investment	to	support	National	exhibitions	rreflecting	a	
construction boom the country is witnessing under the 
wise leadership of Qatar.

Qatar wining the bid to host the 2022 World Cup 
marked a national event, and a significant milestone 
in	Ezdan	career,	your	company	signed	a	contract	with	
The	 International	 Federation	 of	 Association	 Football	
and Qatar Bids for 2022 World Cup.  The biggest hotel 
deal	 in	 the	world	which	 obliges	 Ezdan	 to	 secure	50	
thousand housing units to the guests of Qatar.

Despite the global financial crisis and the repercussions 
that	are	still	plaguing	the	global	economies	Ezdan	has	
been able to overcome this real estate crisis thanks to 
the wisdom of the board of directors as the company 
continued to launch development projects defying 
the implications of the global crisis on the real estate 
sector. We have managed to weather the crisis without 
any loss and have achieved good performance in 
2010, which was described by analysts as the worst 
year of the global economic crisis 

These achievements would not have been possible 
without the good governance of the company and 
especially His Excellency Sheikh Thani bin Abdullah 
Al Thani the founder and chairman of the board of 
directors who is leading the company›s strategy in the 
development of its business to live up to the aspirations 
of the shareholders

Hesham Al Sahtary
Managing Director - CEO
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Ezdan Real Estate Company… Components

Ezdan	 Real	 Estate	 Company	 holds	 full	 ownership	 of	 three	 companies	 that	 contribute	 to	
strengthening the cash flow of the parent company. They also play a key role in diversifying the 
sources of income.

The	three	companies	each	specializes	in	a	different	field	to	benefit	from	experiences	cumulated	
as	 a	 result	 from	 this	 specialization,	 in	 way	 that	 achieve	 integration	 between	 the	 subsidiary	
companies and the parent company.

The companies are 

Ezdan Trading and Contracting Company

Subsidiary	company	«Ezdan	Real	Estate	Trading	&	Contracting	Company	(sole	proprietor	company)	
was	established	with	a	paid	up	capital	of	200,000	Qatari	Riyal.

The company’s scope of work constructing buildings and pavement and preparation of roads and 
building equipments and electrical and maintenance works.

Ezdan Hotel Suites Company

Subsidiary	company	«Ezdan	Hotel	Suites	Company	 (sole	proprietor	company)	was	established	
with a paid up capital of 200 thousand Qatari riyals.

The company is in the business of managing hotels and hotel suites and restaurants.

Ezdan Real Estate Company

Subsidiary	company	«Ezdan	Company	for	Real	Estate	Investment»	was	established	with	a	paid	
up	capital	of	10	million	QAR.	

The company works in the business of selling and buying, and managing properties, as well 
as the business of constructing buildings and pavement and preparation of roads and building 
equipments and electrical and maintenance works.
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Ezdan Real Estate Company Capital Development 
Ezdan	capital	began	 to	grow	 rapidly	during	 the	past	
years;	 the	 growth	 coincided	 with	 the	 company’s	
growing needs for finance and expansion. A company 
eager to rely on itself in the first degree to finance its 
expansions and expectations in order to develop the 
quality of its operations.

The company started it operations as a sole proprietor 
establishment	 since	 1960	 until	 1993,	 before	 it	
became a limited liability company and then a public 
shareholding company, so it can be enlisted in Qatar 
Exchange and become one of the largest companies 
listed in the exchange market in terms of market 
value.

Ezdan	 Real	 Estate	 Company	 Public	 Shareholding	
Capital developed since it was incorporated as a limited 
liability company in 1993 dramatically. Noting that it 
started	with	a	paid	up	capital	of	200thousand	QAR

When the company felt the rapid growth in requirements 
for funding to go along with the national comprehensive 
urban	renaissance,	the	company	opted	to	capitalize	its	
retained earnings, and  to convert its reserve capital 
that	reached	by	2007	nearly	4.569	billion	QAR	which	
is about 1.255 billion US dollars.

By the end of 2009 and early 2010, the company 
witnessed major developments with regards to its 
capital,	 which	 broke	 the	 barrier	 of	 26.	 Billion	 riyals	
or	nearly	7.28billion	US	dollars,	after	 the	company’s	
extra ordinary general assembly and official bodies 
approved	the	merger	with	the	International	Group	for	
Housing

Ezdan	 completed	 a	 merger	 with	 the	 International	
Housing Group in early 2010. The restricting process 
was	 coherent	 with	 «Ezdan»	 objectives	 seeking	 to	
strengthen its shareholders interests and uplift its 
competitive edge

The valuation of the market value of the current assets 
or	 those	still	under	construction,	 for	both	Ezdan	and	
the	International	Housing	Group,	was	done	by	means	
deducting cash flows and rental yield of similar 
prosperities, keeping in mind the locations of these 
assets.

The outcome of these valuation procedures determined 
that	the	value	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	is	about	
14.4	billion	Riyals,	while	the	value	of	the	assets	of	the	
international housing group company is 12.1 billion 
Riyals,	making	EZDAN	new	capital	26.525	billion	Riyals.
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Five Decades of Giving

The	Evolution	of	Ezdan

Ezdan	 Real	 Estate	 Company	 will	 complete	 its	 fifth	
decade this year, as it continues to develop its products 
and services which enabled it to take the helm of 
leadership of real estate developing companies in the 
region.

The company turned from just an ambitious idea 
for Sheikh Thani bin Abdullah Al Thani to one of the 
brightest real estate firms in Qatar and the GCC.

His Excellency’, Sheikh Thani bin Abdullah Al Thani, 
vision contributed at the time of incorporating the 
company, in translating its successes at a later stage. 
He believed in the importance of building a relationship 
of mutual trust between his little project and all those 
dealing with the services provided, which was enough 
to consolidate a high reputation that echoed for nearly 
fifty years during which, the company grew and gained 
more confidence. Clients became more aware of the 
role played by his Excellency in developing the real 
estate sector in Qatar.

The company drew it’s path over the past years 
steadily overcoming a number of challenges and 
achieving greater successes inspired by its vision and 
mission built on creating trust and bridges with its 
clients and its local community, to become today the 
largest Qatari sharing company in terms of capital, 

Ezdan	was	known	earlier	by	the	name	of	its	founder,	
Sheikh	Thani	 bin	Abdullah	Al	Thani.	 It	 is	 one	 of	 the	
oldest	 foundations	 working	 in	 the	 Arab	 Real	 Estate	
Sector.	 It	was	 incorporated	 in	1960,	 before	 the	 first	
Qatari bank was founded, to benefit from the growth 

opportunities provided by the real estate sector, as His 
Excellency believed Qatar is about to witness a vast 
economic and urban Economic renaissance. 

His Excellency’s vision was achieved, when the number 
of	residents	(citizens	and	expatriates)	living	in	the	State	
of Qatar doubled more than once, since that date, 
reaching	1.6million,	and	most	of	them	require	housing	
and commercial needs. This increase coincided with 
the immense building and construction. 

During	2006,	that	witnessed	Doha	hosting	the	Olympic	
Asian Games, the commercial name of the company 
was	changed	to	Iskan	Company.		

In	2007,	the	company’s	name	changed	from	“Iskan”	to	
“Ezdan	Real	Estate”	and	was	listed	in	Doha	Exchange	
(formerly	 Doha	 Stock	 Market),	 after	 transferring	 the	
shares investments from the international group for 
housing to Tadawul Holding Company.

Since its shares were enlisted in Doha Exchange, the 
market value of the company made a quantum leap 
that	resulted	in	doubling	the	said	value.	In	2009,	the	
company’s	share	value	increased	by	144%	despite	the	
fact	that	the	exchange	index	increased	only	by	1.1%.	
This reflects the shareholders trust in the company 
and its management.

2008,	 a	 number	 of	 developments	 took	 place	 that	
produced	the	merger	with	the	International	Group	for	
Housing, after global prestigious firms assessed the 
assets of both companies. As a result, the company 
was enlisted in Qatar Exchange with a capital of 
almost	 26.5	 billion	 QAR,	 after	 attaining	 the	 official	
endorsements and extraordinary general assembly 

approved	the	merger	in	2008.		

The merger comes in the context of the company’s 
keenness to expand its operations in the local market 
and its competitiveness to benefit its shareholders.

The	increase	in	the	size	of	the	company	and	its	capital	
will increase its insistence on providing increased 
added-value to the real estate sector in Qatar, to meet 
the	increasing	demand	for	all	sorts	and	sizes	of	real	
estate units.

Ezdan	believes	is	under	a	social	and	moral	obligation	
to contribute in the progress of the local community, 
and increase the well-being of living for those who live 
in Qatar under the leadership of HH the Emir Sheikh 
Hamad bin Khalifa al-Thani and HH the Heir Apparent 
Sheikh Tamim bin Hamad al-Thani.

In	the	past	few	years,	Ezdan	managed	to	accomplish	a	
large number of projects spread over different cities in 
Qatar.	In	last	year	alone,	Ezdan	managed	to	launch	a	
pack of luxury housing projects, despite the challenges 
brought by the global financial crisis. 

In	 this	 regard,	 the	 company	 reaffirms	 its	 role	 in	
developing the local real estate sector in different cities 
around Qatar, as it strongly believes it is important not 
to focus its investments in Doha, a city that enjoys 
a distinct commercial and economic value. Other 
regions in the country should enjoy more of real estate 
development attention. The company interpreted this 
trend by investing in Al Wakra, Al Wukair, and Al 
Gharafah.
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Ezdan Mall (1) - Al Garrafa

This Mall is located on area of 66 thousand square meters, where as built up area reaches 
over 120 thousand square meters.

Project’s completion rate reached 70% up to the date of preparing this report;

The project was named Ezdan Mall, 32% of the project will be allocated for rent, and 20% is 
to turned into green areas (landscape)

The mall is expected to play a key role in the field of internal tourism.

The coolest part of the mall is the outside aquarium
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Ezdan-ASIA Towers

The company is set on building Ezdan Towers 2 - Asia Towers 
in the West Bay area in Doha.

The project is still in the design phase and will be built on an 
area of up to 29375 square meters, while the built up area is 
going to be 503 thousand square meters.

The project is considered to be one of the major projects in the 
real estate sector in Qatar.
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Ezdan International School (1)

The company is building Ezdan International School (1) located in 
Al-Gharrafa on area of about 11 thousand square meters. However, 
reaches 13 thousand. 95% of the leading school has been 
completed.

The school to be launched in September 2010, is an international 
private school providing world class quality education curriculums, 
and embraces all students› scientific needs.

The school will provide staff of extensive academic expertise.
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Ezdan Mall (2) – 
Al-Wakrah

Projects under-Implementation
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Ezdan Mall (2) – Al-Wakrah
Ezdan Mall is located in Al-Wakrah city on an 
area over 75.6 thousand square meters.

This commercial mall is one of the prominent 
business models of urban development and 
engineering in the construction of malls in the 
State of Qatar. Taking the element of creativity 
and innovation as the top of engineering priorities 

that simulates traditional Arabic and modern 
architecture.

The layout of the project utilizes the magnificent 
sea front that Al-Wakra city enjoys.

The mall will embrace shops and special 
recreational facilities as well as public utilities.
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Ezdan Building-19

Ezdan completed “Ezdan Building 19 Project” that comprises of 60 fully 
furnished housing units. The project is characterized by its distinctive 
location. It is situated in Muserib in the heart of Doha, next to where all 
services are available.

In addition, it is also just a stone’s throw away from the vital areas in 
the city of Doha.

The housing units in Ezdan 19 have all the electrical appliances and the 
finest furniture a modern house needs.
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Ezdan Village-4, 5, 6, 7

thanks to the wise vision of the leadership and decisions adopted by the 
government.

Ezdan mega projects in Al-Wukair will attract about 50 thousand people in 
the next few years. The growth of population in the area will create increasing 
demand for investments and its associated services which would ensure 
opening channels of investment.

Ezdan villages› projects are in line with the company›s strategy which is to 
provide high quality housing at an affordable cost. Ezdan are keen to provide 
upscale housing units at excellent prices within the reach of middle income.

Ezdan villages offer a suitable healthy and elegant environment, taking into 

account the provision of quality construction, equipment and furnishings in 
furnished residential units allocated for rent.  

Ezdan villages also include quality services such as billiard halls, a gymnasium 
as well as tennis playgrounds. 

We also took into account the importance of the existences of green spaces 
and landscape, gardens, swimming pools and a functions hall, in addition to a 
mosque and a shopping center, parking area and  many other amentias.

Ezdan upcoming projects in Al-Wukair help reduce the pressure on housing 
units in major cities; it also will help in reducing traffic congestions in Doha 
which gets most of the attention of searchers for housing.

Ezdan Real Estate Company launched many projects in 2010 that included «Ezdan Villages 4, 5, 6 & 7» in Al 
Wukair area. These are some of the leading projects contributing in the urban development outside the capital 
city of Doha where the majority of real estate development activities are going on.

The new villages boost the middle income earners opportunities to gain adequate housing surrounded by all forms 
of high-end services reflecting the evolution of Qatar›s architecture, and other requirements associated with modern 
facilities. 

Launching the villages concurred with Qatar wining 2022 World Cup bid to become a part of the vision of the Emir 
of Qatar His Highness Sheikh Hamad bin Khalifa Al-Thani. Ezdan and the private sector organizations are in debt to 
his highness for the economic development and urbanization the country has witnessed under his auspicious

Ezdan Villages 4, 5, 6 & 7 opened on the following dates:

Opening Date Village
March 4, 2010 No. 4
June 5, 2010 No. 5
October 6, 2010 No. 6
December 7, 2010 No. 7

Ezdan Villages has the capabilities to participate in the development of Al-Wukair area; and are considered fully 
integrated residential cities providing an elegant residential environment for various segments of the society

These villages were launched in 2010, a year full of serious challenges to the real estate sector which still 
suffers from the repercussions of the of the global economic crisis that the country has been able to overcome 
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Report on the Financial Statements

We	have	audited	the	accompanying	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	Q.S.C.	
(the	“Company”)	and	its	subsidiaries	(together	referred	to	as	the	“Group”),	which	comprise	the	consolidated	
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 and the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.  

Board	of	Director’s	Responsibility	for	the	Financial	Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	for	such	internal	control	as	
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  
We	conducted	our	audit	in	accordance	with	International	Standards	on	Auditing.		Those	standards	require	
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to	fraud	or	error.		In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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Opinion
In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	posi-
tion of the Group as at 31 December 2010 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.

Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 5 to the financial statements which indicates that 
as	of	31	December	2009	the	provision	for	social	and	sports	activities	contribution	amounting	to	QR	9.5	mil-
lion	was	calculated	at	2.5%	of	the	net	profit	for	the	year	after	excluding	the	fair	value	gains	on	investment	
properties	and	projects	under	development.	According	to	the	requirements	of	Law	No.	13	of	2008,	all	the	
Qatari	Shareholding	Companies	which	are	listed	in	Qatar	Exchange	are	required	to	pay	2.5%	of	their	annual	
net	profit	to	Governmental	Fund	to	support	the	social	and	sports	activities.	The	management	is	of	the	opin-
ion that there are no sufficient instructions about the calculation of the provision and accordingly has applied 
its own interpretation as explained above.

Report on Legal and Other Requirements
Furthermore,	in	our	opinion	proper	books	of	account	have	been	kept	by	the	Group,	an	inventory	count	has	
been conducted in accordance with established principles, the contents of the Directors’ report which 
relate	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	in	agreement	with	the	Group’s	financial	records.	In	
addition the consolidated financial statements comply with the Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 5 of 
2002 and the Company’s Articles of Association, except for the impact of the matter referred to in Note 13 
to	the	financial	statements	which	indicates	that,	in	2009	the	group	did	not	transfer	10%	of	the	annual	
net	profit	to	the	legal	reserve	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	Article	No.	183	of	the	Qatar	Com-
mercial Companies Law No. 5 of 2002 due to the insufficiency of the balance of retained earnings as at 31 
December 2009. We have obtained all the information and explanations we required for the purpose of our 
audit, and are not aware of any other violations of the above mentioned law or the Articles of Association 
having occurred during the year which might have had a material effect on the business of the Group or on 
its financial position.

Firas	Qoussous
of Ernst & Young
Auditor’s	Registration	No.	236
Date:	17	March	2011
Doha
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009  

Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)

Rental	income 443,316 457,409

(Loss)	gain	on	disposal	of	investment	properties (72,545) 17,427

Contract revenue 11,163 -

Other operating income 9,652 9,592

Operating expenses 3 (82,863) (75,074)

Contract cost (11,052) -

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 297,671 409,354

Net fair value gains on investment properties and projects under development 8&9 19,119 8,304,911

Profit on bank deposits 3,492 5,212

Negative goodwill on acquisition - 58,403

General and administrative expenses 4 (75,813) (50,216)

Islamic	finance	costs (123,145) (41,977)

PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 121,324 8,685,687

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (QR) 6 0.046 5.29
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2010

2010 2009  
Notes QR’000 QR’000

(Restated)
ASSETS 
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 98,014 83,119
Investment	properties 8 13,823,088 8,645,361
Projects under development 9 17,129,190 20,966,306

31,050,292 29,694,786

Current assets
Inventories 28,134 107,916
Accounts receivable and prepayments 10 171,442 136,480
Bank balances and cash 11 674,490 121,024

874,066 365,420

TOTAL ASSETS 31,924,358 30,060,206

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 
Share capital 12 26,524,967 26,524,967
Legal reserve 13 771,721 759,589
Retained	earnings	 106,159 -

Total equity 27,402,847 27,284,556

Non-current liabilities 
Islamic	financing	facilities 14 3,103,126 1,791,290
Profit	payable	on	Islamic	financing	facilities - 25,944
Employees’ end of service benefit 15 11,400 9,173

3,114,526 1,826,407

Current liabilities
Islamic	financing	facilities 14 428,256 251,327
Profit	payable	on	Islamic	financing	facilities 91,593 32,365
Accounts payable and accruals 16 887,136 665,551

1,406,985 949,243

Total liabilities 4,521,511 2,775,650

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 31,924,358 30,060,206

………………………………………………. ……………………………………………….

Thani Bin Abdullah Al Thani Hesham Al-Sehetry
Chairman Managing Director & CEO

Annual I Report I 2010 I 39



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Notes QR’000 QR’000

(restated)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 121,324 8,685,687
Adjustment for:

Depreciation 7 27,302 15,347
Provision for employees’ end of service benefit 15 3,915 7,467
Profit on disposal and net fair value gains on investment properties (1,769,777) (3,976,902)
Net	fair	value	losses		(gains)	on	projects	under	development	 9 1,823,203 (4,345,436)
Allowance for impairment of receivables 10 9,317 9,258
Islamic	finance	costs 123,145 41,977
Profit on bank deposits (3,492) (5,212)

Operating profit before working capital changes: 334,937 432,186
Accounts receivable and prepayments (44,279) (113,748)
Inventories 79,782 (105,478)
Profit	payable	on	Islamic	financing	facilities 33,284 42,480
Accounts payable and accruals 218,552 605,887

Cash from operations 622,276 861,327
Islamic	finance	costs	paid (123,145) (41,977)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 15 (1,688) (356)

Net cash flows from operating activities 497,443 818,994

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (9,902) (18,313)
Property, plant and equipment resulted from the acquisition 7 - (55,030)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 561 -
Purchase of investment properties 8 (38,879) (10,645)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 397,296 45,050
Investment	properties	resulted	from	the	acquisition 8 - (142,992)
Payments for projects under development 9 (1,785,310) (1,057,629)
projects under development resulted from acquisition - (13,426,459)
Profit on bank deposits 3,492 5,212

Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,432,742) (14,660,806)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue	of	bonus	shares	resulted	from	acquisition - 12,121,321
Net	movement	in	Islamic	financing	facilities 14 1,488,765 1,676,617

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,488,765 13,797,938

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 553,466 (43,874)

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 121,024 164,898

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  31 DECEMBER 11 674,490 121,024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2010

Share
capital

Legal
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Balance at 1 January 2010 26,524,967 759,589 - 27,284,556

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - - 121,324 121,324

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 121,324 121,324

Transfer to legal reserve - 12,132 (12,132) -

Appropriation	for	contribution	to	social	fund	(Note	5	and		Note	16) - - (3,033) (3,033)

Balance at 31 December 2010 26,524,967 771,721 106,159 27,402,847

Balance at 1 January 2009 4,569,000 191,842 1,726,225 6,487,067

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - - 8,685,687 8,685,687

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 8,685,687 8,685,687

Issue	of	bonus	shares 9,834,646 - (9,834,646) -

Issue	of	new	shares 12,121,321 - - 12,121,321

Transfer to legal reserve - 567,747 (567,747) -

Appropriation	for	contribution	to	social	fund	(Note	5	and		Note	16) - - (9,519) (9,519)

Balance at 31 December 2009 (Restated) 26,524,967 759,589 - 27,284,556
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	Q.S.C.	is	a	Qatari	public	shareholding	company	registered	in	the	State	of	Qatar	under	the	
commercial	registration	number	15466.

The Company’s registered office is at P.O. Box 3222, Doha, State of Qatar.

The Company is mainly involved in owning, developing and trading in real estates.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	Q.S.C.	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010	were	
authorised	for	issue	in	accordance	with	a	resolution	of	the	Board	of	Directors	on	17	March	2011.

On	4	November	2009	the	Extraordinary	General	Assembly	of	the	shareholders	approved	the	acquisition	of	International	Housing	
Group	Q.P.S.C.	through	the	issue	of	new	shares	to	the	shareholders	of	the	International	Housing	Group	Q.P.S.C.	In	addition	the	
Extraordinary	General	Assembly	to	authorized	the	Board	of	Directors	to	take	the	legal	procedures	necessary	for	obtaining	the	
administrative	approvals	required	by	the	Qatari	Commercial	Companies	Law	no.	5	of	2002	to	finalize	the	acquisition	process.	

The	following	amounts	reflect	the	assets	and	liabilities	acquired	from	the	International	Housing	Group	Q.P.S.C.	and	combined	
into	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Q.S.C	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009:

QR’000

Total Assets 13,966,649

Total Liabilities 1,786,925

                                                                    
The	process	of	acquiring	International	Housing	Group	Q.	Q.P.S.C.	resulted	in	an	increase	in	the	share	capital	by	QR	
12,121,320,740	and	a	negative	goodwill	of	QR	58,403,289	which	has	been	recognized	as	income	in	the	Statement	of	
Comprehensive	Income.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the measurement 
at fair value of investment properties and projects under development.
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The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	presented	in	Qatar	Riyals,	which	is	the	functional	and	presentational	currency	
of	the	Group.		All	values	are	rounded	to	the	nearest	thousand	(QR’000)	except	where	otherwise	indicated.

2.2 Statement of Compliance

The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	
as	issued	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(IASB)	and	the	applicable	requirements	of	Qatar	Commercial	
Companies’ Law No. 5 of 2002.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The	consolidated	financial	statements	comprise	the	financial	statements	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	Q.S.C.	and	its	
subsidiaries, as follows:

Effective Group Ownership Percentage

2010 2009

Ezdan	Trading	and	Contracting	Company	S.O.C 100% 100	%

Ezdan	Hotel	and	Suites	Company	S.O.C 100% 100%

Ezdan	Real	Estate	Investment	W.L.L. 100% 100%

Notes:

Ezdan	Trading	and	Contracting	Company	S.O.C	(“subsidiary	company”)	was	incorporated	in	Qatar	and	has	an	1)	
authorized	and	paid-up	capital	of	QR	200,000.	The	Company	is	involved	in	general	contracting	for	buildings,	
road paving, trading in building materials and equipment, electricity works and maintenance.

Ezdan	Hotel	and	Suites	Company	S.O.C	(“subsidiary	company”)	was	incorporated	in	Qatar	as	a	single	owner	2)	
company	and	has	an	authorized	and	paid	up	capital	of	QR	200,000.	The	Company	is	involved	in	managing	
hotels, suites, and restaurants. 

Ezdan	Real	Estate	Investment	W.L.L.	(“subsidiary	company”)	was	incorporated	in	Qatar	as	a	limited	liability	3)	
company	and	has	an	authorised	and	paid	up	capital	of	QR	10,000,000.	The	Company	is	involved	in	buying,	
selling and managing properties, construction of buildings, roads paving, trading in building materials, electricity 
work and maintenance.
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Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the parent obtains control, and continue 
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. 

All	intra-group	balances,	income	and	expenses	and	unrealized	gains	and	losses	resulting	from	intra-group	transactions	are	
eliminated in full.

2.4  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following new and 
amended	IFRS	and	IFRIC	interpretations	effective	as	of	1	January	2010	as	follows:

IFRS	2	−	 Share-based Payment: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions effective 1 January 2010
IFRS	−	 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended) 
effective 1 July 2009, including consequential amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 5 IFRS 7, IAS 7, IAS 21, IAS 28, IAS 
31 and IAS 39
IAS	39	−	 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items effective 1 July 2009
IFRIC	17	−	 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners effective 1 July 2009
Improvements	to	IFRSs	(May	2008)−	
Improvements	to	IFRSs	(April	2009)−	

When the adoption of the standard or interpretation is deemed to have an impact on the financial statements or performance of 
the Group, its impact is described below:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (Revised)
The	IASB	issued	an	amendment	to	IFRS	2	that	clarified	the	scope	and	the	accounting	for	group	cash-settled	share-based	
payment	transactions.	The	Group	adopted	this	amendment	as	of	1	January	2010.	It	did	not	have	an	impact	on	the	financial	
position or performance of the Group.

IFRS	3	Business Combinations (Revised) and	IAS	27	Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)
IFRS	3	(Revised)	introduces	significant	changes	in	the	accounting	for	business	combinations	occurring	after	becoming	
effective. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition 
and subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration and business combinations achieved in stages. These changes 
will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future reported 
results.
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IAS	27	(Amended)	requires	that	a	change	in	the	ownership	interest	of	a	subsidiary	(without	loss	of	control)	is	accounted	for	as	
a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it 
give	rise	to	a	gain	or	loss.	Furthermore,	the	amended	standard	changes	the	accounting	for	losses	incurred	by	the	subsidiary	as	
well	as	the	loss	of	control	of	a	subsidiary.	The	changes	by	IFRS	3	(Revised)	and	IAS	27	(Amended)	affect	acquisitions	or	loss	of	
control of subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests after 1 January 2010.

The	Group	adopted	this	amendment	as	of	1	January	2010.	It	did	not	have	an	impact	on	the	financial	position	or	performance	of	
the Group.

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow variability of 
a financial instrument as a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular 
situations. The Group has concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the 
Group.

IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets to 
shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends. The interpretation has no effect on either, the financial position 
nor performance of the Group.

2.5  Improvements to IFRS

In	May	2008	and	April	2009,	the	IASB	issued	omnibus	of	amendments	to	its	standards,	primarily	with	a	view	to	removing	
inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The adoption of the 
following amendments resulted in changes to some accounting policies but did not have any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group.

Issued in May 2008

IFRS	5	Non-current	Assets	Held	for	Sale	and	Discontinued	Operations:	clarifies	that	when	a	subsidiary	is	classified	as	held	
for sale, all its assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale, even when the entity remains a non-controlling interest 
after the sale transaction.

Issued in April 2009

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations−	 : clarifies that the disclosures required in 
respect of non-current assets and disposal Groups classified as held for sale or discontinued operations are only 
those	set	out	in	IFRS	5.	The	disclosure	requirements	of	other	IFRSs	only	apply	if	specifically	required	for	such	non-
current assets or discontinued operations. 

Annual I Report I 2010 I 45

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2010



IFRS 8 Operating Segments−	 : clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets 
and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the chief operating decision maker. 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows−	 : States that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can be classified 
as a cash flow from investing activities.

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets−	 : The amendment clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, 
acquired	in	a	business	combination,	is	the	operating	segment	as	defined	in	IFRS	8	before	aggregation	for	
reporting purposes.

2.6  Standard issued but not yet effective

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are listed below. This listing 
is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group 
intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendment)
The	amended	standard	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011.	It	clarified	the	definition	of	a	
related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The revised 
standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government related entities. The Group does not expect 
any impact on its financial position or performance. Early adoption is permitted for either the partial exemption for government-
related entities or for the entire standard.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues (Amendment)
The	amendment	to	IAS	32	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	February	2010	and	amended	the	definition	of	
a	financial	liability	in	order	to	classify	rights	issues	(and	certain	options	or	warrants)	as	equity	instruments	in	cases	where	such	
rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, or to 
acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency. This amendment will have no 
impact on the Group after initial application.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS	9	as	issued	reflects	the	first	phase	of	the	IASBs	work	on	the	replacement	of	IAS	39	and	applies	to	classification	and	
measurement	of	financial	assets	as	defined	in	IAS	39.	The	standard	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	
January	2013.	In	subsequent	phases,	the	IASB	will	address	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	liabilities,	hedge	
accounting	and	derecognition.	The	completion	of	this	project	is	expected	in	early	2011.	The	adoption	of	the	first	phase	of	IFRS	
9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group will quantify the effect in 
conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture.
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IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement (Amendment)
The	amendment	to	IFRIC	14	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011	with	retrospective	application.	
The amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset. The amendment permits an 
entity to treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset. The amendment is deemed to have no impact on 
the financial statements of the Group.

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
IFRIC	19	is	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2010.	The	interpretation	clarifies	that	equity	instruments	
issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity instruments issued are measured 
at	their	fair	value.	In	case	that	this	cannot	be	reliably	measured,	the	instruments	are	measured	at	the	fair	value	of	the	liability	
extinguished.	Any	gain	or	loss	is	recognized	immediately	in	profit	or	loss.	The	adoption	of	this	interpretation	will	have	no	effect	
on the financial statements of the Group.

Improvements to IFRSs (issued in May 2010)
The	IASB	issued	Improvements to IFRSs,	an	omnibus	of	amendments	to	its	IFRS	standards.	The	amendments	have	not	been	
adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after either 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011. The amendments listed 
below, are considered to have a reasonable possible impact on the Group:

IFRS	3	•	 Business Combinations
IFRS	7	•	 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IAS	1	•	 Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS	27	•	 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IFRIC	13	•	 Customer Loyalty Programmes

The Group, however, expects no impact from the adoption of the amendments on its financial position or performance

2.7 Significant accounting policies 

Revenue recognition
Revenue	is	recognised	on	the	following	basis:

Rental income 
Rental	income	receivable	from	operating	leases,	less	the	Group’s	initial	direct	costs	of	entering	into	the	leases,	is	recognised	on	
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.

Incentives	for	lessees	to	enter	into	lease	agreements	are	spread	evenly	over	the	lease	term,	even	if	the	payments	are	not	made	
on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term for which the tenant 
has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the directors are reasonably certain that the tenant will 
exercise that option. Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognised in 
the income statement when they arise.
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Profit on bank deposits 
Profit on bank deposits is recognised as the profit accrues using the effective profit rate.

Service income
Revenue	from	services	provided	during	the	year	is	recognised	when	these	services	are	provided	to	the	customers	and	the	
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Sale of properties
A property is regarded as sold when the significant risks and returns have been transferred to the buyer, which is normally on 
unconditional	exchange	of	contacts.	For	conditional	exchanges,	sales	are	recognised	only	when	all	the	significant	conditions	are	
satisfied.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to construction of property are capitalised as part of cost of the asset.  
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use 
are completed.  Other borrowing costs are recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents 
For	the	purpose	of	the	Statement	of	Cash	Flows,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of	cash	and	bank	balances,	short	term	bank	
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost including borrowing costs that are eligible for capitalisation 
and excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.  Land is not 
depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Buildings  20 years
Plant & equipment 2 - 5 years
Furniture,	fixtures	 5	years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate	the	carrying	value	may	not	be	recoverable.		If	any	such	indication	exists	and	where	the	carrying	values	exceed	the	
estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount, being the higher of their fair value less 
costs to sell and their value in use.
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Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment that is accounted for separately 
is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off.  Other subsequent expenditure is 
capitalised only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property, plant and equipment. All other 
expenditure is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as the expense is incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised.

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial 
year end.

Investment properties
Land and buildings are considered as investment properties only when they are being held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both.

Investment	properties	are	measured	initially	at	cost,	including	transaction	costs	and	borrowing	costs	that	are	directly	attributable	
to construction of the asset. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the 
time	that	cost	is	incurred	if	the	recognition	criteria	are	met;	and	excludes	the	costs	of	day	to	day	servicing	of	an	investment	
property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at 
the financial position date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

Investment	properties	are	derecognised	when	either	they	have	been	disposed	of	or	when	the	investment	property	is	
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the 
year of retirement or disposal.

Other than transfers from projects under development, transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, 
there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party 
or completion of construction or development.  Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a 
change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell.

If	the	property	occupied	by	the	Group	as	an	owner	occupied	property	becomes	an	investment	property,	the	Group	accounts	for	
such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Projects under development
Projects under development represent properties that are being constructed or developed including land for future use as 
investment properties or owner occupied properties.
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The projects under development will be transferred to investment properties and property, plant and equipment categories when 
they are ready for their intended use.

Projects	under	development	are	measured	initially	at	cost,	less	any	impairment	in	value.		It	also	includes	the	indirect	expenses	
on the basis of its regular activity and operation and subsequently measured at fair value which reflect the market conditions 
at the financial position date.  Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values are included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income for the year.

Inventories
Inventories	are	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.		Costs	are	those	expenses	incurred	in	bringing	each	product	
to	its	present	location	and	condition.		Inventories	are	accounted	for	on	a	weighted	average	basis.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion and 
disposal.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts.  An estimate for 
doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are written off when there is no 
possibility of recovery.

Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier or 
not. 

Provisions
Provisions	are	recognised	when	the	Group	has	an	obligation	(legal	or	constructive)	arising	from	a	past	event,	and	the	costs	to	
settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured.

Employees’ end of service benefits
The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees in accordance with Qatar Labour Law.  The entitlement to these 
benefits is usually based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service 
period.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.  

Provision for social and sports activities contribution
Under Qatar Law No. 13 for 2009, all the Qatari shareholding companies which listed in Qatar Exchange are required to pay 
2,5%	of	their	annual	net	profit	to	governmental	fund	to	support	the	social	and	sports	activities.
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Islamic financing activities
Islamic	financing	activities	are	recognized	initially	at	fair	value	of	the	amounts	borrowed,	less	directly	attributable	transaction	
costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	Islamic	financing	activities	are	measured	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	profit	
method,	with	any	differences	between	the	cost	and	final	settlement	values	being	recognized	in	the	consolidated	statement	
of	comprehensive	income	over	the	period	of	borrowings.		Instalments	due	within	one	year	at	amortised	cost	are	shown	as	a	
current liability.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	assets	have	expired	or	when	the	Group	
has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets.

Financial	liabilities	are	derecognised	when	they	are	extinguished,	which	is	when	the	obligation	is	discharged	or	cancelled	or	
expired. 

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets
An assessment is made at each financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a specific 
financial	asset	may	be	impaired.	If	such	evidence	exists,	any	impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	
comprehensive	income.		Impairment	is	determined	as	follows:

For	assets	carried	at	fair	value,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	cost	and	fair	value,	less	any	impairment	loss	(a)	
previously	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income;
For	assets	carried	at	cost,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	carrying	value	and	the	present	value	of	future	cash	(b)	
flows	discounted	at	the	current	market	rate	of	return	for	a	similar	financial	asset;
For	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost,	impairment	is	the	difference	between	carrying	amount	and	the	present	value	of	(c)	
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the financial position date.  All differences 
are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Fair values
The fair value of investment properties and projects under development is based on valuations carried out by external, independent 
evaluators.  

The fair value of interest bearing items is estimated based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for items with similar terms and 
risk characteristics.
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3 OPERATING EXPENSES 
2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Maintenance expenses 11,543 5,642

Staff costs     9,849 10,880

Air-conditioning cost     8,678 8,744

Water and electricity       8,372 4,879

Development expenses       4,220 29,268

Diesel and  Oils       3,738 -

Registration	and	ownership	transfer	fees       2,429 847

Mortgage fees       2,359 366

Rent	commission	       2,150 267

Equipment rent      1,667 1,390

Consultation fees       1,353 1,215

Properties valuation fees       304 346

Other operating expenses 26,201 11,230

82,863 75,074

4 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Advertising expenses 21,336 6,556

Staff costs     18,934 14,454

Qatar Exchange registration fees       9,359 1,690

Allowance	for	impairment	of	receivables	(Note	10)        9,317 9,258

Depreciation       8,989 7,535

Insurance	expenses       1,150 1,180

Zakat	and	donation	expenses            327 4,000

Other expenses         6,401 5,543

75,813 50,216

5 CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIAL FUND 

In	accordance	with	Law	No.	13	of	2008,	the	Group	made	an	appropriation	of	profit	of	QR.	3,033	thousands	(2009:	9,519	
thousands)	equivalent	to	2.5%	of	the	consolidated	net	profit	for	the	year	for	the	support	of	sports,	cultural,	social	and	charitable	
activities. 
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In	January	2010,	a	clarification	relating	to	Law	No.	13	of	2008	was	issued,	which	requires	the	amount	payable	to	be	
recognised as a distribution of income. Accordingly, the amount provided during 2009, has been considered as a restatement of 
the	2009	retained	earnings	in	accordance	with	“IAS	8	–	Accounting	policies,	changes	in	accounting	estimates	and	errors”.

During	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2009,	the	provision	for	social	and	sports	activities	contribution	amounted	to	QR	
9,519	thousand	was	calculated	at	2.5%	of	the	net	profit	for	year	after	excluding	the	fair	value	gains	on	investment	properties	
and projects under development.

According	to	the	requirements	of	Law	No.	13	of	2008,	all	the	Qatari	Shareholding	Companies	which	are	listed	in	Qatar	
Exchange	are	required	to	pay	2.5%	of	the	annual	net	profit	to	Government	Fund	to	support	the	social	and	sports	activities.		
The management is of the opinion that there are no sufficient instructions about the calculation of the provision, therefore the 
provision for 2009 was calculated based on the method disclosed above.

6 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year.  

2010 2009

(Restated)

Profit	for	the	year	(QR’000) 121,324 8,685,687

Weighted	average	number	of	shares	outstanding	during	the	year	(thousand	of	share) 2,652,497 1,642,387

Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	(QR) 0.046 5.29

Notes:

(i)	 The	weighted	average	number	of	shares	has	been	calculated	as	follows:

2010 2009

Qualifying shares at beginning of the year 2,652,497 456,900

Effect	of	new	shares	issued	on	1	November	2009	(Note	12) - 202,022

Effect	of	bonus	shares	issued	on	1	November	2009	(Note	12) - 983,465

Weighted average number of shares at end of the year 2,652,497 1,642,387

 
(ii)	 There	were	no	potentially	dilutive	shares	outstanding	at	any	time	during	the	year	and	hence	the	diluted	earnings	per	

share is equal to the basic earnings per share.
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7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land Buildings
Motor

vehicles
Furniture 

and fixtures
Plant 

and quipment 
Construction 
in progress

Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2010 - 12,852 9,770 34,883 47,399 - 104,904

Additions - - 523 5,366 2,333 1,680 9,902

Transfers from investments properties 5,038 31,484				 - - - - 							36,522	

Disposals - - 			(1,085) - - - 			(1,085)

Transfers to investments properties - - - 			(3,666) - - 			(3,666)

At 31 December 2010 5,038 44,336 9,208 36,583 49,732 1,680 146,577

Depreciation:

At 1 January - 107 2,383 12,927 6,368 - 21,785

Depreciation	charge	for	the	year	(i) - 										2,217	         1,991 							8,584 				14,510	 - 										27,302

Relating	to	disposals - - (524) - - - (524)

At 31 December 2010 - 2,324 3,850 21,511 20,878 - 48,563

Net carrying amount:

At 31 December 2010 5,038 42,012 5,358 15,072 28,854 1,680 98,014

EZDAN I Real I Estate I 54

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
At 31 December 2010



Buildings
Motor

vehicles
Furniture 

and fixtures
Plant 

and  equipment 
Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2009 - 3,119 27,384 1,058 31,561

Additions - 3,771 6,523 8,019 18,313

Transfers as a result of the acquisition 12,852 2,880 976 38,322 55,030

At 31 December 2009 12,852 9,770 34,883 47,399 104,904

Depreciation:

At 1 January - 709 5,666 63 6,438

Depreciation	charge	for	the	year	(i) 107 1,674 7,261 6,305 15,347

At 31 December 2009 107 2,383 12,927 6,368 21,785

Net carrying amount:

At 31 December 2009 12,745 7,387 21,956 41,031 83,119

Note:
Depreciation	charge	for	the	year	amounting	to	QR	17,668	thousand	(2009:	QR	7,812	thousand)	has	been	(i)	
capitalised as part of projects under development. 
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8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES       
2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 8,645,361 4,741,227

Additions 38,879 10,645

Transfer from projects under development 4,632,015 13,270

Transfer from properties, plant & equipments 3,666 -

Transfer to projects under development (832,792) (194,625)

Transfer to properties, plant & equipments (36,522) -

Disposals (469,841) (27,623)

Net	gains	from	changes	in	the	fair	value	(a) 1,842,322 3,959,475

Investment	properties	transferred	as	a	result	of	the	acquisition - 142,992

13,823,088 8,645,361

Notes:

The Group has carried out a valuation of all investment properties and projects under development owned by the a)	
Group	as	at	31	December	2010.	The	valuation	was	prepared	by	D.T.Z	Qatar	L.L.C.,	a	certified	valuer,	specialized	in	
the valuation of real estate and similar activities. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the appropriate 
sections	of	the	Practice	Statements	(“PS”)	contained	with	the	RICS	Valuation	Standards,	6th	Edition	(the	“Red	Book”).

Investment	properties:
The market value has been estimated by using the investment approach. This approach adopts a discounted - 
cash flow approach and has regard to a number of issues including tenant covenant strength, length of lease, 
rental trends, the quality and age of the building, operating costs and incorporates an appropriate discount rate 
having regard to prevailing market conditions.      

Projects under development:

The market value has been estimated using the modified residual approach or the depreciated replacement - 
cost approach plus land. The modified residual approach adopts the investment approach to determine a gross 
development value from which the future capital expenditure and associated costs required to complete the 
development is deducted. The depreciated replacement cost approach plus land adopts the capital expenditure 
to	date	(current	replacement	cost)	plus	market	value	of	land	plot,	as	the	valuation	date.	

(b)	 All	the	investment	properties	are	located	in	Qatar.

(c)	 The	encumbrances	and	liens	on	the	investment	properties	are	disclosed	in	Note	14.
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9 PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2010 2009
QR’000 QR’000

Opening balance 20,966,306 1,955,427

Additions	(i) 1,785,310 1,057,629

Transfer to investment properties (4,632,015) (13,270)

Transfer from investment properties 832,792 194,625

Net	(loss)	gain	from	changes	in	the	fair	value	(8	a) (1,823,203) 4,345,436

Projects under development transferred as a result of the acquisition - 13,426,459

17,129,190 20,966,306

Note:

Islamic	finance	costs	amounting	to	QR	153,164	thousand	(2009:	QR	40,113	thousand)	has	been	capitalised	as	part	(i)	
of projects under development.

10 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

2010 2009
QR’000 QR’000

Trade accounts and notes receivable 71,354 55,693

Less : Allowance for impairment (25,390) (16,073)

45,964 39,620

Advances to suppliers 78,381 79,411

Payments against letters of credit 19,778 4,412

Accrued profit revenues 6,458 3,084

Amounts	due	from	related	parties	(*)	(Note	17) 2,862 27

Refundable	deposits 1,912 1,948

Prepayments 875 5,549

Staff receivable 753 534

Other receivables 14,459 1,895

171,442 136,480
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*	 Amounts	due	from	related	parties	include	the	following	balances:

2010 2009
QR’000 QR’000

Sak	Group	for	Investment	Properties	(S.O.C.) 1,980 -

Tadawul	Holding	Group	(Q.P.S.C.) 662 -

Sheikh Khalid Bin Thani 193 -

Sheikh	Thani	Bin	Abdullah	Al	Thani	Foundation	for	Humanitarian	Services		 20 20

Mackeen	Investment	and	Real	Estate	Development	Company	(Q.P.S.C.) 7 7

2,862 27

As	at	31	December	2010,	trade	accounts	receivable	amounting	to	QR	25,390	thousand	(2009:	QR	16,073	thousand)	were	
impaired.  

10 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade accounts receivable were as follows:

2010 2009
QR’000 QR’000

At 1 January 16,073 6,815

Charge	for	the	year	(Note	4) 9,317 9,258

At 31 December 25,390 16,073

As at 31 December, the ageing of unimpaired trade receivables is as follows:               

Past due but not impaired

Total
QR’000

Neither past due 
nor impaired

QR’000

30 – 90 day
QR’000

90 – 120 day
QR’000

>120 days
QR’000

2010 45,964   9,926 16,907 12,295 6,836
2009 39,620 8,328 5,028 17,243 9,021

 
Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. The Group’s practice is not to 
obtain collateral over receivables and the vast majority are, therefore, unsecured.
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11 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	in	the	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	consist	of	the	following	statement	of	financial	position	amounts:

2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Bank balances and cash 263,174 105,271

Short term deposits 411,316 15,753

At 31 December 674,490 121,024

The	Group	earns	profit	rate	ranging	from	3.17%	to	6.2%	per	annum	on	the	short	term	deposits.

12 SHARE CAPITAL

2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Authorised,	issued	and	fully	paid	2,652,496,691	shares	of	QR	10	each 26,524,967 26,524,967

On	4	November	2009	the	Extraordinary	General	Assembly	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Q.S.C	resolved	to	approve	the	valuation	
prepared	by	DTZ	Qatar	L.L.C.,	after	the	approval	of	the	court	of	law.	The	Extraordinary	General	Assembly	also	resolved	to	issue	
bonus	shares	amounting	to	QR	9,834,646	thousand	to	the	shareholders	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Q.S.C	prior	to	the	acquisition	of	
International	Housing	Group	Q.S.C.C,	based	on	the	valuation	prepared	by	DTZ,	which	estimated	the	value	of	Ezdan	Real	Estate	
Q.S.C	at	QR	14,403,646,168.

Further,	the	Extraordinary	General	Assembly	resolved	to	issue	new	shares	to	the	shareholders	of	International	Housing	Group	
Q.P.S.C.	against	their	interests	in	the	company	amounting	to	QR	12,121,320,740	divided	into	1,210,132,074	shares	of	QR	
10 per share, which represents the value agreed upon between the two parties and representing the fair value of the acquired 
company.	The	fair	value	QR	10	per	share	is	based	on	the	valuation	carried	out	by	DTZ	Qatar.	The	date	of	the	execution	of	the	
acquisition was 31 October 2009.

On 11 November 2009 the legal procedures necessary for the registration of the share capital increase with the Ministry of 
Business	and	Trade	has	been	finalized,	and	as	a	result	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Q.S.C	obtained	on	8	December	2009	a	Commercial	
Registration	with	a	share	capital	agreeing	to	the	amount	included	in	these	financial	statements.	
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13 LEGAL RESERVE

As	required	by	Qatar	Commercial	Companies’	Law	No,	5	of	2002	and	the	company’s	articles	of	association,	10%	of	the	profit	
for the year should be transferred to legal reserve.  The company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the 
reserve	totals	50%	of	issued	share	capital.		The	reserve	is	not	normally	available	for	distribution	except	in	the	circumstances	
stipulated in the above law.  

During the financial year ended on 31 December 2009, the Group has issued bonus shares from the retained earnings of 
the	previous	years	in	addition	to	the	recognized	net	profits	up	to	31	October	2009	based	on	a	resolution	obtained	at	the	
Extraordinary General Assembly of the shareholders. The remaining balance of the retained earnings as at the end of 2009 
was	not	sufficient	to	transfer	10%	of	the	annual	profit	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Article	No.	183	of	the	Qatar	
Commercial Companies Law No. 5 of 2002 to the legal reserve. Accordingly, the group transferred the total remaining profits for 
the	year	2009	to	the	legal	reserve	which	amounted	to	QR	567,747	thousand	(after	deducting	the	portion	related	to	the	issue	of	
bonus	shares).	

14 ISLAMIC FINANCING FACILITIES
2010 2009

Notes QR’000 QR’000

Facility	1	 (i) 156,000 195,000
Facility	2	 (ii) 153,900 171,000
Facility	3 (iii) 308,750 325,000
Facility	4 (iv) 499,007 567,836
Facility	5 (v) 94,389 121,799
Facility	6 (vi) 122,411 134,078
Facility	7 (vii) 83,608 91,240
Facility	8 (viii) 220,807 283,234
Facility	9 (ix) 300,000 150,000
Facility	10 (x) 250,000 -
Facility	11 (xi) 500,000 -
Facility	12 (xii) 650,000 -
Facility	13 (xiii) 97,000 -
Other	Facilities 95,510 3,430

Balance 3,531,382 2,042,617

Classified in the statement of financial position as follows:
Current portion 428,256 251,327
Non-current portion 3,103,126 1,791,290

3,531,382 2,042,617
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Notes:
Facility	1	-	On	21	July	2008,	the	Group	entered	into	an	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	(i)	
to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	195	million.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	
quarterly	instalments	starting	on	18	January	2010	and	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	
margin.	The	facility	is	secured	against	an	investment	property	with	a	book	value	of	QR	370,225	thousand	as	of	31	
December 2010.

Facility	2	-	On	22	May	2008,	the	Group	entered	into	an	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	(ii)	
to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	171	million.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	
quarterly instalments starting on 22 August 2010 and carries profit rate at Qatar Central Bank rate plus certain 
margin.	The	facility	is	secured	against	two	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	660,655	thousand	as	
of 31 December 2010.

Facility	3	-	On	4	March	2009,	the	Group	entered	into	a	Murabaha	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	(iii)	
to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	325	million.		The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	
quarterly	instalments	starting	on	4	December	2010	and	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	
margin.		The	facility	is	secured	against	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	811,147	thousand	as	of	
31 December 2010.

Facility	4	-	Represents	syndicated	Murabaha	agreement	with	both	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	and	Al	Ahli	United	Bank	(iv)	
(B.S.C)	for	an	amount	of	USD	165	million	(QR	602.25	million)	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	
Group.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	quarterly	instalments	starting	on	9	August	2009	and	ending	on	31	January	2018.	
The	facility	carries	a	profit	rate	at	LIBOR	plus	certain	margin.	The	facility	is	secured	against	investment	properties	
with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	1,884,556	thousand	as	of	31	December	2010.

Facility	5	-	Represents	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	(v)	
the	Group.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	equal	quarterly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	8,773,644	including	the	profit	
of	the	financing.	The	first	instalment	was	paid	on	28	February	2009	and	the	last	instalment	due	on	30	November	
2013.	The	facility	carries	profit	rate	at	LIBOR	plus	certain	margin.	The	facility	is	secured	against	investment	
properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	1,149,737	thousand	as	of	31	December	2010.

Facility	6	-	Represents	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	(vi)	
the	Group.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	4	equal	quarterly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	2,886,302	in	addition	to	40	
equal	quarterly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	5,401,913.	The	first	instalment	was	paid	on	31	July	2008	and	the	last	
instalment	due	on	30	April	2018.	The	facility	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	margin.	The	
facility	is	secured	against	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	82,956	thousand	as	of	31	December	
2010.
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Facility	7	-	Represents	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	(vii)	
the	Group.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	4	equal	quarterly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	1,924,201	in	addition	to	40	equal	
quarterly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	3,601,505.	The	first	instalment	was	paid	on	19	October	2008	and	the	last	
instalment	due	on	19	July	2018.	The	facility	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	margin.	The	facility	
is	secured	against	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	644,106	thousand	as	of	31	December	2010.

Facility	8	-	Represents	Murabaha	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	(viii)	
projects	of	the	Group.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	monthly	instalments	amounting	to	QR	5,202,271.	The	first	
instalment	was	paid	on	31	July	2006	and	the	last	instalment	due	on	31	July	2014.	The	facility	carries	profit	rate	at	
Qatar Central Bank rate plus certain margin. The facility is not secured.

Facility	9	-	Represents	Murabaha	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	(ix)	
projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	150	million.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	quarterly	instalments	and	
the	first	instalment	due	on	21	March	2011.	During	the	year	2010	the	facility	was	increased	to	QR	300	million,	the	
additional	facility	for	an	amount	of	QR	150	million	is	repayable	in	20	quarterly	instalments	and	the	first	instalment	
due	on	14	April	2011.	The	facility	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	margin.	The	facility	is	
secured	against	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	960,394	thousand	as	of	31	December	2010.

Facility	10	-	On	30	November	2010,	the	Group	entered	into	a	Murabaha	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	(x)	
in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	250	million.	The	facility	is	repayable	
in 20 quarterly instalments. The first instalment due on 30 November 2012. The facility carries profit rate at Qatar 
Central Bank rate plus certain margin. The facility is secured against investment properties with a carrying value of 
QR	684,263	thousand	as	of	31	December	2010.

Facility	11	-	Represents	Tawarroq	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	to	finance	the	real	estate	(xi)	
projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	500	million.	The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	quarterly	instalments.	The	first	
instalment	is	due	on	14	March	2012.	The	facility	carries	a	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	margin.	
This	facility	and	facility	13	(below)	are	secured	against	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	2,308,138	
thousand as of 31 December 2010.

Facility	12	-	On	4	July	2010,	the	Group	entered	into	an	Ijarah	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	(xii)	
to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	650	million.		The	facility	is	repayable	in	28	
quarterly instalments starting on 30 Sept 2011 and carries profit rate at Qatar Central Bank rate plus certain 
margin.		The	facility	is	secured	against	two	investment	properties	with	a	carrying	value	of	QR	2,129,148	thousand	
as of 31 December 2010.

Facility	13-	On	25	October	2010,	the	Group	entered	into	a	Murabaha	agreement	with	an	Islamic	Bank	in	Qatar	in	order	(xiii)	
to	finance	the	real	estate	projects	of	the	Group	for	an	amount	of	QR	97	million.		The	facility	is	repayable	in	20	quarterly	
instalments	starting	on	28	October	2012	and	carries	profit	rate	at	Qatar	Central	Bank	rate	plus	certain	margin.	 
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15 EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFIT 

The movement in the liability for the end of service benefits recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2010 2009
QR’000 QR’000

Provision as at 1 January 9,173 2,062

Provided during the year 3,915 7,467

End of service benefit paid to employees (1,688) (356)

11,400 9,173

16 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

2010 2009  
QR’000 QR’000   

Amounts	due	to	related	parties	(*)	(Note	17) 456,333 466,659

Liability form purchase of investment property 249,300 -

Trade accounts payable 56,147 29,476

Retentions	payable 44,015 36,239

Refundable	deposits	from	tenants 37,393 27,985

Accrued expenses 17,796 16,426

Provision	for	social	and	sports	activities	(Note	5) 12,552 9,519

Rents	received	in	advance	 9,116 17,143

Notes payable 3,387 61,201

Other payables 1,097 903

887,136 665,551

*	 Amounts	due	to	related	parties	include	the	following	balances:

2010 2009  
QR’000 QR’000   

Tadawul	Holding	Group	(Q.P.S.C.) 448,538 399,241

Sheikh	Thani	Bin	Abdullah	(Chairman) 7,795 67,418

456,333 466,659
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 17 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Related party transactions and balances
Related	parties	represent	companies	affiliated	to	the	shareholders,	major	shareholders,	directors	and	key	management	
personnel of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties for the relevant 
financial	year	(for	the	amounts	due	from/due	to	related	parties	refer	to	Notes	10	and	16	respectively).

(a) Consolidated statement of financial position items
2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Assets

Amounts due from related parties 12,524 27

Accrued profits 486 198

13,010 225

Transactions during the year

Exchange	of	investment	property		(received)	(i) 332,145 -

Exchange	of	investment	property		(given)	(i) 391,711 -

Liabilities 

Amounts due to related parties 456,333 466,659

Note:

Execution	to	the	singed	agreement	dated	1	September	2009	between	the	International	Housing	Group	Q.P.S.C	(i)	
and	Sheikh	Thani	Bin	Abdullah	Al	Thani	before	the	merge	that	took	place	on	4	November	2009	to	exchange	a	
property	with	a	property,		on	1	February	2010,	Ezdan	Real	Estate	Company	Q.S.C	entered	into	an	investment	
property exchange agreement with Sheikh Thani Bin Abdullah Al Thani, the Chairman of the Board to exchange an 
investment	property	located	in	Al-Wukair	owned	by	the	Chairman	having	a	fair	value	of	QR	332,145	thousand	with	
an	investment	property	owned	by	the	Company	located	in	Al-Gharafa	having	a	book	value	of	QR	391,711	thousand.	
The	difference	between	the	values	of	the	exchanged	investment	properties	amounting	to	QR	59,566	thousand	was	
charged against the Chairman’s current account. 
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(b) Consolidated statement of comprehensive income items

2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Revenue 

Profit on short term deposits 757 1,035

Rental	income 905 75

1,662 1,110

Expenses

Insurance	expenses 1,150 1,012

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured, interest free and the settlement occurs in cash. There have been no 
guarantees	provided	or	received	for	any	related	party	receivables	or	payables.	For	the	years	ended	31	December	2010	
and 2009, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by the related parties. This 
assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in 
which the related party operates.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
The remuneration of key management during the year was:

2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Board	of	Directors	remuneration	for	2009	(i) 2,400 -

Short term benefits 2,245 2,407

Employees’ end of service benefit 104 59

4,749 2,466

Note:

The Board remuneration for 2009 was booked and paid after the approval of the Annual General Assembly (i)	
Meeting.   
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18 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

For	management	purposes,	the	Group	is	divided	into	three	operating	segments	which	are	based	on	business	activities,	as	
follows: 

Investment	Properties	 :		 The	segment	includes	developing,	owning,	trading	and	renting	of	real	estates.	
Hotel & Suites             :  The segment includes managing hotels, suites, and restaurants.
Trading & Contracting  :  The segment includes contracting for buildings, road paving, trading in building 

materials.

Management monitors the operating results of the operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss.

The following table presents revenue and profit information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the years ended 
31 December 2010 and 2009.

Investment
Properties
QR’000

Hotel & Suites
QR’000

Trading & 
Contracting

QR’000 
Total

QR’000

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Segment revenues 251,683 151,351 855,752 1,258,786 

Segment expenses (227,264) (49,457) (860,741) (1,137,462)

Segment profit 24,419 101,894 (4,989) 121,324

Investment
Properties
QR’000

Hotel & Suites
QR’000

Trading & 
Contracting

QR’000 
Total

QR’000
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009

Segment revenues 8,629,348 223,606 349,201 9,202,155

Segment expenses (123,486) (43,781) (349,201) (516,468)

Segment profit 8,505,862 179,825 - 8,685,687
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The following table presents assets and liabilities information regarding the Group’s operating segments for the years ended 
31 December 2010 and 2009.

Investment
Properties
QR’000

Hotels & Suites
QR’000

Trading & 
Contracting

QR’000 
Total

QR’000

Segment assets

As of 31 December 2010 30,305,727 134,907 1,483,724 31,924,358
As of 31 December 2009 28,660,692 66,043 1,333,471 30,060,206

Segment liabilities
As of 31 December 2010 4,402,169 25,919 93,423 4,521,511
As of 31 December 2009 2,634,105 30,819 110,726 2,775,650

19 RISK MANAGEMENT

Objective and policies
The	Group’s	principal	financial	liabilities	comprise	Islamic	financing	facilities	and	trade	accounts	payable.	The	main	purpose	of	these	
financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various financial assets such as trade accounts 
receivable, amounts due from related parties, bank balances and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, profit rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as profit rates and foreign currency exchange rates will affect the 
Group’s profit, equity or value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control	the	market	risk	exposure	within	acceptable	parameters,	while	optimizing	return.	

Profit rate risk
The	Group’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	subject	to	interest	rate	risk	comprise	bank	deposits,	and	Islamic	financing	
facilities. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to reasonably possible 
changes in profit rates by 25 basis points, with all other variables held constant.  The sensitivity of the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income is the effect of the assumed changes in profit rates for one year, based on the floating rate financial 
assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2010. The effect of decreases in interest rates is expected to be equal and 
opposite to the effect of the increases shown.
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Changes in basis 
points

Effect on profit

QR’000

2010

Floating	interest	rate	instruments +25 b.p (259,241)

2009

Floating	interest	rate	instruments +25 b.p (127,414)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Group’s	foreign	currency	creditors	are	payable	mainly	in	US	Dollars.		As	Qatari	Riyal	is	pegged	to	the	US	Dollar,	balances	in	US	
Dollars are not considered to represent significant currency risk.

Credit risk
The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to customers by setting credit limits for individual customers and 
monitoring outstanding receivables.  The Group’s maximum exposure with regard to trade accounts receivable, net of 
provision	at	the	reporting	date	was	QR	45,964	thousand	(2009	:	QR	39,620	thousand).

The Group seeks to limit the credit risks relating to its bank deposits by dealing with banks with good standings.  

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments are as follows:

2010 2009

QR’000 QR’000

Bank balances  674,490 121,024

Amounts due from related parties 2,862 27

Other receivables 14,459 1,895

691,811 122,946
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation 
and is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank facilities.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of 
financial	assets	(e.g.	accounts	receivable)	and	projected	cash	flows	from	operations.	The	Group’s	terms	of	sales	require	amounts	
to be paid in advance, except for corporate customers which are required to settle within 30-90 days from the date of sale.

The table below summarises the maturities of the Group’s undiscounted financial liabilities at 31 December 2010, based on 
contractual payment dates and current market interest rates.

Year ended 31 December 2010
Less than
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5
years

> 5 years Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Trade accounts and notes payables 23,523 36,011 - - 59,534

Deposits refundable to tenants 1,396 8,504 27,493 - 37,393

Accrued expenses 14,966 2,830 - - 17,796

Provision for social and sports activities contribution - 12,552 - - 12,552

Amounts due to related parties - - 456,333 - 456,333

39,885 59,897 483,826 - 583,608

Year ended 31 December 2009
Less than
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5
years

> 5 years Total

QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000 QR’000

Trade accounts and notes payables 35,829 54,848 - - 90,677

Deposits refundable to tenants 1,833 5,706 20,446 - 27,985

Accrued expenses 5,582 10,844 - - 16,426

Provision for social and sports activities contribution 9,519 - - - 9,519

Amounts due to related parties - - 466,659 - 466,659

52,763 71,398 487,105 - 611,266
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Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines 
as total shareholders’ equity excluding the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings 
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The primary objective of the Group’s capital 
management	is	to	ensure	that	it	maintains	healthy	capital	ratios	in	order	to	support	its	business	and	maximize	shareholders	
value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic and business 
conditions and shareholders’ expectation. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 
year	end	31	December	2010.		Capital	comprises	shareholders’	equity	and	is	measured	at	QR	27,402,847	thousand	as	at	
31	December	2010	(2009:	QR	27,284,556	thousand).

20 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial	instruments	comprise	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities.

Financial	assets	consist	of	bank	balances	and	cash,	short	term	deposits	and	receivables.	Financial	liabilities	consist	of	
Islamic	financing	facilities	and	payables.

The fair values of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values.

21 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Fair value of investment properties
The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent real estate valuation experts using recognised 
valuation	techniques.	The	technique	used	is	the	investment	approach.	In	some	cases,	the	fair	values	are	determined	based	
on recent real estate transactions with similar characteristics and location to those of the Group assets.

Projects under development are also valued at fair value as determined by independent real estate valuation experts, except 
if	such	values	cannot	be	reliably	determined.	In	the	exceptional	cases	when	a	fair	value	cannot	be	reliably	determined,	
such properties are recorded at cost. The fair value of Projects under development is determined using either the modified 
residual method or the depreciated replacement cost approach plus land.
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The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows 
from	assets	(such	as	lettings,	tenants’	profiles,	future	revenue	streams,	capital	values	of	fixtures	and	fittings,	plant	and	
machinery,	any	environmental	matters	and	the	overall	repair	and	condition	of	the	property)	and	discount	rates	applicable	to	
those	assets.	In	addition,	development	risks	(such	as	construction	and	letting	risks)	are	also	taken	into	consideration	when	
determining the fair value of Projects under development. These estimates are based on local market conditions existing at 
reporting date.

In	arriving	at	their	estimates	of	market	values	as	at	31	December	2010	and	31	December	2009,	the	valuers	used	their	
market	knowledge	and	professional	judgement	and	did	not	rely	solely	on	historical	transactional	comparables.	In	these	
circumstances, there was a greater degree of uncertainty than which exists in a more active market in estimating the 
market values of investment property.

The significant methods and assumptions used by the valuers in estimating the fair value of investment properties and 
projects	under	development	are	set	out	in	Notes	8	and	9.

Impairment of accounts receivable
An estimate of the collectible amount of trade accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no longer 
probable.		For	individually	significant	amounts,	this	estimation	is	performed	on	an	individual	basis.		Amounts	which	are	not	
individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of 
time past due, based on historical recovery rates.

At	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date,	gross	trade	accounts	receivable	were	QR	71,354	thousand	(2009	
:	QR	55,693	thousand)	and	the	related	allowance	for	impairment	amounted	to	QR	25,390	thousand	(2009	:	QR	16,073	
thousand).	Any	difference	between	the	amounts	actually	collected	in	future	periods	and	the	amounts	expected	will	be	
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment for calculating 
depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence.
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22   COMPARATIVE FIGURES

In	2009,	the	contribution	to	Social	and	Sports	Development	Fund	of	Qatar,	representing	2.5%	of	the	consolidated	net	
profit excluding the revaluation gains for the year, was charged to the statement of comprehensive income. However, 
pursuant further clarification of the law issued in 2010, the contribution was treated as an appropriation of profits through 
the statement of changes in equity and accordingly the comparative amounts have been restated. This has resulted in an 
increase	in	the	previously	reported	profit	by	QR	9.5	million.

As a result of the correction of the above prior period errors, the following was the increase in the items of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009:

 QR›000 

Profit for the year 9,519

Basic and diluted earnings per share 0.01
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